A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in admitting ER 404(b) evidence for an 

Improper purpose. 

2. The trial court erred in failing to give a limiting instruction on 

the ER 404(b) evidence. 

3. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request a limiting 

instruction for the ER 404(b) evidence. 

4. The court erred in admitting ER 404(b) evidence to show the 

complaining witness's state of mind and delay in reporting without also 

requiring expert testimony on the dynamics of a domestic violence 

relationship. 

Issues Pe1taining to Assignments of Error 

1. The trial court admitted ER 404(b) evidence that appellant 

had allegedly assaulted the complaining witness during several uncharged 

incidents. Is reversal required when the court admitted this domestic 

violence evidence for an improper purpose? 

2. Did defense counsel provide ineffective assistance m 

failing to request a limiting instruction for the ER 404(b) evidence? 

3. Did the trial court eiT in admitting ER 404(b) evidence of 

past acts of domestic violence between appellant and the complaining 
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witness without also requiring an expe11 to explain the dynamics of a 

domestic violence relationship? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural History 

The King County prosecutor charged appellant Luis Vela with one 

count each of second degree assault - domestic violence, unlawful 

imprisonment - domestic violence, and third degree assault - domestic 

violence. CP 11-12; 1RP1 117-19. 

A jury found Vela guilty. CP 62-64; 1RP 516-17. The jury also 

returned special verdicts finding that Vela and the complaining witness 

were members of the same household, and that Vela committed the second 

degree assault with a deadly weapon. CP 65. 

The trial comi sentenced Vela to concunent prison sentences of 20 

months for second degree assault, 16 months for unlawful imprisonment, 

and 16 months for third degree assault. The trial court also imposed a 

consecutive 12-month deadly weapon enhancement. CP 100-07; 1RP 

531-32. Vela timely appeals. CP 109-17. 

1 This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP
September 10, 2013, October 29, 2013, June 3, 2014, June 6, 2014, 
August 6, 2014, August 11, 2014, August 12, 2014, August 13, 2014, 
August 14, 2014, August 15, 2014, October 10, 2014; 2RP- August 12, 
2014 (voir dire). 
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2. Trial Testimony 

Vela met Veronica Lopez-Nunez on an internet dating website at 

the beginning of2013. 1RP 184-85, 227, 365. Their relationship became 

romantic about one month later. 1RP 185-86, 227, 365-68. Vela and 

Lopez-Nunez continued to live separately. 1RP 186. 

Vela eventually spent the night at Lopez-Nunez's apartment at her 

invitation. 1 RP 3 71-72. On other occasions, Vela slept in his car in the 

apartment parking lot out of respect for Lopez-Nunez's daughters. 1RP 

187, 228, 372, 396-97. As the relationship continued, Vela "partially" 

moved into Lopez-Nunez's apartment. 1RP 187. 

Lopez-Nunez said that about one month into the relationship, Vela 

took her cell phone and did not give it back. Vela would hit Lopez-Nunez 

if she tried to use another phone. 1RP 184-85, 227. Vela also hit Lopez

Nunez in the stomach and threatened to kill her and throw her body in 

Lake Washington. 1RP 191-92, 221, 230. On one occasion, Vela hit 

Lopez-Nunez very hard in the head which prevented her from walking for 

a few weeks. 1RP 221. Lopez-Nunez quit her job when Vela became 

jealous that she was talking with male co-workers. 1RP 187-89. 

At the apariment, Vela forced Lopez-Nunez to stay m her 

bedroom. 1 RP 193. Vela threatened to contact immigration and have her 

daughters taken away if Lopez-Nunez left the apartment without his 
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permission. 1 RP 192, 208. Lopez-Nunez explained that she did not call 

police, and stayed with Vela because she was afraid. Vela said he would 

find Lopez-Nunez wherever she went if she left him. 1RP 194-95, 197. 

At the end of April 2013, Lopez-Nunez used her daughter's phone 

to call her brother. 1RP 200. Vela became upset when he found out and 

hit Lopez-Nunez and pulled her hair. 1RP 202. Lopez-Nunez said Vela 

took a knife from the kitchen and slightly penetrated her vagina with the 

point of the knife. 1RP 198-202, 208. Vela said using the knife would not 

hurt him at all. 1RP 199. Lopez-Nunez was not cut and the knife left no 

physical marks. lRP 202. 

That same evening, Vela told Lopez-Nunez to take her clothes off 

and stand naked in front of the bedroom window. 1RP 200-01. Lopez

Nunez stood at the window for several hours. Vela would not let Lopez

Nunez leave the bedroom to use the bathroom. Vela told Lopez-Nunez 

"things would go badly," if she sat or lied down. 1RP 201-03. Lopez

Nunez had to promise not to bathe, talk to other people, or leave the 

apartment without him. 1RP 203-04. 

Lopez-Nunez wanted to end the relationship with Vela after the 

April incident. Vela threatened to contact immigration and have her 

daughters taken away if Lopez-Nunez ended the relationship. 1RP 208. 
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After the April incidents, Vela also pointed a gun at Lopez-Nunez's head 

and told her he could kill her at any moment. 1RP 213-14. 

About one week later, Lopez-Nunez used the telephone to verify 

how much money was left on her food stamp card. Vela appeared upset. 

1RP 209-10, 212. As a result, Lopez-Nunez moved all the knives and 

scissors from the kitchen to the laundry basket in her daughter's bedroom. 

Lopez-Nunez also changed the location of the gun Vela kept at the 

apartment. Lopez-Nunez intended to have her daughter's call the police if 

Vela asked for the gun. 1RP 212-13,217-18. 

Vela asked Lopez-Nunez for the gun. Lopez-Nunez told her 

daughter to call police. Lopez-Nunez took the gun to Vela in the 

bedroom. 1 RP 218-19. In the bedroom, Vela hit Lopez-Nunez in the head 

four or five times with a bottle. 1RP 220. The bottle did not break. 

Lopez-Nunez suffered no injuries. lRP 221. 

Police arrived at the apartment a short time later. lRP 221. Police 

heard no noises coming from inside the apartment. lRP 332-34. Lopez

Nunez saw Vela grab the gun and heard a plastic bag as police called for 

them to exit the bedroom. Lopez-Nunez did not see what happened to the 

gun. 1RP 222. 
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Lopez-Nunez and Vela eventually exited the bedroom. 1 RP 31-17, 

341. Police handcuffed and searched Vela. Vela was cooperative and 

police found no weapons on him. 1RP 317, 344. 

Police found a gun inside a shopping bag in the courtyard of the 

apartment building. 1RP 318-20, 331-32. The gun had no bullets in the 

chamber. 1RP 320. Testing showed the gun was not operable. 1RP 322-

23. Lopez-Nunez showed police an empty bottle and knives in her 

daughter's clothes hamper. 1RP 326-27. No fingerprint or DNA testing 

was done on the gun, knives, or bottle. 1RP 333. Police did not speak 

with any other residents of the apartment complex. 1RP 333. 

Police observed Lopez-Nunez's face and neck were red and 

swollen. Lopez-Nunez had bruises on her upper arms and a scratch on her 

lower forearm. Lopez-Nunez's hair was wet and her scalp appeared to 

missing hair in ce1iain areas. 1RP 324-25, 350-52. Lopez-Nunez declined 

medical attention. IRP 336. 

Lopez-Nunez's daughter, J.C., also noticed bruises and cuts on her 

mom's arms. Lopez-Nunez told J.C. the injuries were from working in the 

kitchen. 1RP 242, 249. J.C. never saw any injuries to Lopez-Nunez's 

head. 1RP 261. 

J.C. observed that Lopez-Nunez and Vela spent a lot oftime in the 

bedroom when they were dating. 1RP 245, 262. J.C. never saw any 
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violence between Lopez-Nunez and Vela. lRP 247, 259, 267. Vela was 

never violent towards J.C. or her sister, W.C. lRP 249, 259. J.C. 

sometimes heard Lopez-Nunez yell but thought it was laughter. lRP 247, 

267. 

J.C. explained that Vela paid for everything when he and Lopez

Nunez were dating. lRP 261. The day of the incident, J.C. called 911 

when her mother told her to. J.C. told police Lopez-Nunez was afraid of 

her security. lRP 253. J.C. did not personally see anything that caused 

her to believe Lopez-Nunez was in danger. 1 RP 252. 

Lopez-Nunez also told her daughter, W.C., that the injuries to her 

arms were fi:om working. She saw no bruises on Lopez-Nunez's face. 

lRP 301, 308. Although W.C. saw that Lopez-Nunez and Vela spent a lot 

of time in the bedroom together, Lopez-Nunez would also come out ofthe 

bedroom to talk with her daughters. lRP 282, 300, 306. W.C. never 

heard screaming, crying, or punching sounds coming from the bedroom. 

lRP 304. W.C. noticed that Lopez-Nunez and Vela rarely spent time 

apart inside the apartment. lRP 294-95, 302. Lopez-Nunez and Vela 

shared one phone. lRP 295, 307. 

W.C. saw Lopez-Nunez and Vela talking "normally" to one 

another. She heard them discussing marriage. W.C. never heard Vela say 

anything to Lopez-Nunez about depmiation. lRP 308. 

-7-



Vela's testimony differed from Lopez-Nunez's account of what 

happened during the incidents in April and May, 2013. Vela explained 

that he tried to end the relationships with Lopez-Nunez after he learned 

about his own daughter's struggles academically. IRP 374-75. In 

response, Lopez-Nunez scratched her own arm with a piece of broken 

glass and ripped hair out of her head. IRP 375-76, 381-82, 390, 409. 

Lopez-Nunez also tried to cut herself with a knife. IRP 378-79, 381. 

Lopez-Nunez ripped the phone out of the wall when Vela tried to call 911. 

IRP 379. Vela decided to stay with Lopez-Nunez as a result and did not 

leave the apartment for fear that Lopez-Nunez would harm herself. IRP 

377-79, 0 

On May 5, Vela told Lopez-Nunez that he did not have feelings for 

her and was ending the relationship. IRP 385-86, 398-99, 401. Vela went 

to the apartment to retrieve the gun and clothing he had left there. 1 RP 

386-87, 401-02. Lopez-Nunez was upset and told Vela that if he was not 

there for her then he would not be there for anyone. lRP 391. Vela threw 

the gun out the window because ~opez-Nunez was trying to grab it. IRP 

392, 394-95, 410. Vela had never loaded the gun and did not know 

whether it was operable. 1RP 389-90, 394. 

Vela acknowledged following Lopez-Nunez to the bathroom when 

she asked him to do so. lRP 397. During the relationship Lopez-Nunez 
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and Vela had an agreement to keep each other's cell phones. 1RP 392-93. 

Vela acknowledged bruising Lopez-Nunez's arm when he tried to stop her 

from hurting herself. 1RP 396. 

Vela denied ever threatening or harm Lopez-Nunez with a knife, 

gun, or bottle. Vela never forced Lopez-Nunez to stay in the apartment or 

bedroom against her will and never forced her to stand naked in front of 

the window. lRP 361-62, 380, 395. Vela also never threatened to call 

immigration, have Lopez-Nunez depmied, or have her children removed. 

1RP 382-83. 

3. 404(b) Evidence 

Before trial, the State moved to admit evidence of several 

uncharged domestic violence acts between Vela and Lopez-Nunez. Supp. 

CP _(sub no. 63, State's Trial Memorandum, filed 811//14, at 5-9). The 

prosecutor offered Vela's alleged acts of physical violence, threats about 

deportation and removing Lopez-Nunez's children, controlling behavior, 

and jealous behavior toward Lopez-Nunez's interactions with male co

workers for several reasons. lRP 97-100; Supp. CP _ (sub no. 63, 

State's Trial Memorandum, filed 811/114, at 5-9). The prosecutor 

described the uncharged acts as "basically what would amount to fourth

degree assault incidents[.]" 1RP 100. 
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The prosecutor argued the uncharged acts were relevant to the 

jury's assessment of the element of reasonable fear for the second degree 

assault charge. 1RP 99, 101; Supp. CP _ (sub no. 63, State's Trial 

Memorandum, filed 8/1//14, at 6-8). The prosecutor also argued the 

uncharged acts were relevant to explain Lopez-Nunez's delay in reporting 

the charged incidents, and "relevant to her [Lopez-Nunez] credibility as 

the jury's trying to asses, again, whether or not they can rely upon her 

testimony when she failed to repmi it previously." 1 RP 1 01; Supp. CP 

_(sub no. 63, State's Trial Memorandum, filed 811/114, at 8-9). Finally, 

the prosecutor further argued the uncharged acts were necessary to explain 

the dynamics of a domestic violence relationship to the jury: 

They are also relevant to explain what might be unusual 
behavior to jurors who aren't experienced with issues of 
domestic violence, which is to say, having been the victim 
of this assault, a particularly bad assault on April 301

h, she 
still remained with the Defendant up through the May 51

h 

incident for a few days, and in fact, was voluntarily still 
with the Defendant's company, doing things like going to 
the movies and going shopping with him on May 301

h. 

1 RP 99. · The prosecutor acknowledged he was not offering the prior 

uncharged acts on the basis of res gestae. 1 RP 113. 

Defense counsel objected, arguing the uncharged acts were not 

relevant to the element of reasonable fear because the assault was charge 

was predicated upon a completed unlawful touching. 1RP 102-03; CP 25-
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26. In response, the trial court stated "let's assume the Court's not 

persuaded on that prong, but rather on the question of delay and 

credibility." 1 RP 1 03. Defense counsel argued the uncharged acts were 

not relevant to Lopez-Nunez's delay in reporting or her credibility because 

she was consistent and had never recanted her allegations. 1 RP 1 03-04; 

CP 26-27. 

Defense counsel further argued admission of the uncharged acts 

was prejudicial to Vela because the case was a "swearing contest" 

between Vela and Lopez-Nunez and there was no expert witness who 

could explain the dynamics of a domestic violence relationship to the jury. 

Absent an expe1i witness the jury was free to speculate as to "why a 

person may have done what they did." lRP 104-06; CP 26-27. 

Finally, defense counsel argued "controlling behaviors," was too 

nebulous a term for admission of the evidence without a further offer of 

prooffrom the State. 1RP 108-12. 

The trial court granted the prosecutor's request. The court found 

by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged physical violent acts 

between Vela and Lopez-Nunez occmTed and were admissible. 1RP 113-

14. The court further explained the uncharged acts offered by the 

prosecutor were admissible for several reasons: 
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The deportation allegations, the following her within the 
apartment and without, refusing to permit to her have a cell 
phone, keeping her in the bedroom. I mean all of those, I 
think, are pretty clearly, I think, 404(b), and they address 
the elements the State has to prove, which is whether or not 
she felt intimidated, whether she would report the assault, 
the deportation threat being the overarching one, together 
with any further violence. 

lRP 113-14. 

Defense counsel failed to request a limiting instruction, propose 

her own, or explain he did not want an instruction. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING ER 404(b) 
DOMESTIC VIOLENCE EVIDENCE FOR AN 
IMPROPER PURPOSE. 

The trial court admitted several · alleged uncharged domestic 

violence incidents between Vela and Lopez-Nunez. The trial court 

admitted this ER 404(b) domestic violence evidence for ·an improper 

purpose. Given the fact that proof of Vela's guilt was not overwhelming, 

coupled with the lack of a limiting instruction, the error was prejudicial 

and this Court should reverse. 

a. Admitting the ER 404(b) Evidence was Error. 

ER 404(b) bars admission of"[ e ]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, 

or acts ... to prove the character of a person in order to show action in 

conformity therewith." This rule applies to evidence of other acts 
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regardless of whether they occurred before or after the charged crime. 

State v. Bradford, 56 Wn. App. 464,467, 783 P.2d 1133 (1989). 

However, such evidence may be admissible for other purposes 

"such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, 

knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b). 

Before admitting ER 404(b) evidence, the trial court must: (1) find by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify 

the purpose of the evidence, (3) detennine whether the evidence is 

relevant to prove an element of the charged crime, and ( 4) weigh the 

probative value against the prejudice. State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 

916, 923, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014). This analysis must be conducted on the 

record. Id. at 922. 

The State sought to admit the alleged uncharged acts of domestic 

violence to explain Nunez-Lopez's credibility, proof of elements of the 

crimes charged, and to help explain to the jury "what might be unusual 

behavior to jurors who aren't experienced with issues of domestic 

violence[.]" 1RP 98-101. The court in turn found the uncharged acts 

were relevant to Nunez-Lopez's delay in reporting, credibility, and to 

address the elements ofthe crimes charged. 1RP 113-15. 

In State v. Magers, the court held that prior acts of domestic 

violence are admissible under ER 404(b) "to assist the jury in judging the 
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credibility of a recanting victim." 164 Wn.2d 174, 186, 189 P.3d 126 

(2008) (plurality opinion); id. at 194 (Madsen, J ., concurring). However, 

the Court recently declined to extend Magers to cases where the 

complaining witness "neither recants nor contradicts prior statements." 

Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d at 925. 

Gunderson was charged with felony violation of a no-contact order 

based on an altercation between him and his ex-girlfriend, Christina 

Moore. Id. at 918-20. Moore's testimony at trial regarding the incident 

was not inconsistent with any prior statements she made to police or the 

prosecutor. Id. at 920. Nonetheless, the trial court admitted evidence of 

two prior incidents between Gunderson and Moore for the purpose of 

impeaching Moore's credibility. Id. at 920-21. The Supreme Court 

reversed, agreeing with Gunderson that the significant prejudicial effect of 

the prior acts outweighed their probative value. Id. at 923-24. The Comi 

explained: "the mere fact that a witness has been the victim of domestic 

violence does not relieve the State of the burden of establishing why or 

how the witness's testimony is unreliable." Id. at 924-25. 

The Gunderson court further held: 

Much like in cases involving sexual crimes, courts must be 
careful and methodical in weighing the probative value 
against the prejudicial effect of prior acts in domestic 
violence cases because the risk of unfair prejudice is very 
high. To guard against this heightened prejudicial effect, 
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we confine the admissibility of prior acts of domestic 
violence to cases where the State has established their 
overriding probative value, such as to explain a witness's 
otherwise inexplicable recantation or conflicting account of 
events. Otherwise, the jury may well put too great a weight 
on a past conviction and use the evidence for an improper 
purpose. 

I d. at 925 (citations omitted). The trial court therefore abused its 

discretion in admitting evidence of Gunderson's past domestic violence. 

Other acts of domestic violence may also be admissible to show 

the complaining witness's state of mind. Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 182-83. 

For instance, Magers's prior violent misconduct was properly admitted to 

show the complaining witness's "reasonable fear of bodily injury." Id. at 

183. Importantly, the complaining witness's fear of bodily injury was an 

element the State needed to prove to convict Magers of assault. Id. 

Evidence of prior physical abuse may also be admissible for the 

limited purpose of explaining delayed repmiing. State v. Fisher, 165 

Wn.2d 727, 745-46, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). In Fisher. the trial court ruled 

that evidence of Fisher's alleged physical abuse of his former stepchildren 

was admissible in his child molestation prosecution, but only if defense 

counsel made an issue of the complaining witness's delayed reporting. 

165 Wn.2d at 746. The Supreme Court affirmed, holding that the trial 

court did not err in ruling that Fisher's physical abuse "was admissible 
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conditioned upon the defense's making an issue of [the complaining 

witness's] delayed reporting." Id., 165 Wn.2d at 746. 

Here, each of the charges included an allegation of domestic 

violence. Moreover, the State sought to admit the uncharged incidents to 

help explain to the jury "what might be unusual behavior to jurors who 

aren't experienced with issues of domestic violence[.]" IRP 99. The 

uncharged acts therefore constitute domestic violence, bringing it within 

Gunderson's gamut. 

Given the clear holdings in Magers and Gunderson, no proper 

purpose supported admission of the uncharged incidents between Vela and 

Lopez-Nunez. First, Lopez-Nunez was not a recanting witness like in 

Magers. Her testimony was not inconsistent with prior statements. IRP 

103-04. 

Second, unlike in Magers, Lopez-Nunez's state of mind or

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