FILED  
Oct 07, 2015  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

NO. 72627-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

LUIS ALBERTO VELA,

Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MONICA J. BENTON

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 477-9497

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

**C. ARGUMENT**

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF VELA'S PRIOR BAD ACTS UNDER ER 404(b).

Vela contends that the trial court erred in admitting Lopez-Nunez's testimony about his actions prior to the April 30<sup>th</sup> incident because no proper purpose for admission existed and because it was not accompanied by expert testimony regarding the dynamics

of domestic violence relationships. These claims should be rejected. The prior bad acts were necessary both to prove both that the elements of second degree assault were met during the April 30<sup>th</sup> incident, and to explain why Lopez-Nunez made inconsistent statements about the source of her injuries and failed to promptly report the April 30<sup>th</sup> incident. There is no requirement that evidence of such prior bad acts be accompanied by expert testimony when admitted for these purposes. The trial court therefore properly exercised its discretion in admitting the evidence under ER 404(b).

Although evidence of prior bad acts is generally inadmissible to prove the character of a person in order to show conformity therewith, such evidence may be admissible for other purposes. ER 404(b); State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 854-55, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). To admit evidence of prior bad acts, the trial court must: (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is admitted, (3) find that the evidence is related to that purpose, and (4) determine that the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Kilgore, 147 Wn.2d 288,

292, 5 P.3d 974 (2002); State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982).

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence under ER 404(b) is reviewed for abuse of discretion, and may be upheld on any grounds supported by the record. State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 922, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014); see In re Marriage of Rideout, 150 Wn.2d 337, 358, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003). A trial court abuses its discretion only when no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 765, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

- a. The Prior Bad Acts Were Admissible To Prove The Elements Of Assault In The Second Degree.

Where the victim's reasonable fear that the defendant will injure her or carry out a threat against her is an element of the charged offense, evidence of prior bad acts by the defendant is admissible to prove that the victim's fear was reasonable so long as the probative value of the prior acts is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 182-83, 189 P.3d 126 (2008) (prior bad acts admissible to prove assault where definition includes creation of reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury); State v. Ragin, 94

Wn. App. 407, 411-12, 972 P.2d 519 (1999) (prior bad acts admissible to prove element of felony harassment that victim reasonably feared the threat would be carried out) (cited with approval in Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 182).

Vela appears to concede that his prior bad acts would be admissible if the existence of Lopez-Nunez's reasonable fear were relevant to the charges in this case. Brief of Appellant at 16. He merely argues that her reasonable fear was not relevant in this case because, in Vela's view, the assault charges were both based on a completed unlawful touching. Brief of Appellant at 16-17. However, the record establishes that the charge of assault in the second degree resulting from the April 30<sup>th</sup> knife incident required the jury to evaluate Lopez-Nunez's reasonable fear.

The jury was instructed that "[a] person commits the crime of assault in the second degree when he or she intentionally assaults another with a deadly weapon." CP 77. The jury was given the following definition of assault:

An assault is an intentional touching striking or cutting of another person, with unlawful force, that is harmful or offensive regardless of whether any physical injury is done to the person. A touching or striking or cutting is offensive if the touching or striking or cutting would offend an ordinary person who is not unduly sensitive.

An assault is also an act, with unlawful force, done with intent to inflict bodily injury upon another, tending but failing to accomplish it and accompanied with the apparent present ability to inflict the bodily injury if not prevented. It is not necessary that bodily injury be inflicted.

An assault is also an act, with unlawful force, done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and **which in fact creates in another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury** even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury.

CP 79 (emphasis added).

Lopez-Nunez's testimony indicated that Vela had held the knife to her vagina during the April 30<sup>th</sup> incident and threatened to rape her with it, but was ambiguous as to how much the knife had actually touched her; although she stated that Vela had put the very tip of it "in" her vagina, she indicated that it did not leave a mark. 1RP 199, 202. As the prosecutor told the trial court in pre-trial motions, the State's theory was that Vela had assaulted Lopez-Nunez with the knife by intentionally placing her in reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury. 1RP 99, 120. The prosecutor addressed only that prong of the assault definition during closing argument, and did not try to argue that Vela had assaulted Lopez-Nunez through a completed touching or cutting. 1RP 474-75.

The prior abuse by Vela was therefore directly relevant, and indeed critical, to the jury's determination of whether Lopez-Nunez reasonably and imminently feared bodily injury when Vela held the knife to her vagina and threatened to rape her with it, and the trial court properly exercised its discretion in admitting testimony about the prior abuse. See Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 182-83.

- b. The Prior Bad Acts Were Admissible To Explain The Victim's Inconsistent Statements And Delay In Reporting.

Where the victim of a domestic violence offense has behaved in a way that would otherwise be inexplicable to the jury, such as by recanting, giving inconsistent statements, or delaying reporting the offense, evidence of prior bad acts by the defendant has overriding probative value and is admissible. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d at 924 n.2, 925; State v. Baker, 162 Wn. App. 468, 475, 259 P.3d 270 (2011). Here, Lopez-Nunez made inconsistent statements about the source of her bruises, telling her daughters that they were from work but testifying at trial that they were inflicted by Vela. 1RP 192, 249, 301. She also delayed reporting the April 30<sup>th</sup> incident, and continued to live with Vela until the May 5<sup>th</sup> incident without telling anyone about the abuse. 1RP 196-98, 208, 328. Without knowledge of the prior domestic violence in the

relationship, those actions by Lopez-Nunez would have appeared inexplicable to the jurors, leaving them to inaccurately interpret the inconsistencies and delays as evidence of Lopez-Nunez's untruthfulness. For that reason, the prior bad acts had an overriding probative value far outweighing any danger of unfair prejudice,<sup>10</sup> and thus were admissible under ER 404(b). See Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d at 924 n.2, 925; Baker, 162 Wn. App. at 475.

Vela's argument to the contrary turns on his assertions that (1) Lopez-Nunez's testimony was not inconsistent with her prior statements and (2) prior bad acts are not admissible to explain a delay in reporting until after the defendant "makes an issue of" the delay. Brief of Appellant at 15-16. Vela supports the first assertion only with a citation to defense counsel's pre-trial argument in the trial court; as noted above, the record establishes that Lopez-Nunez's statements to police and trial testimony were in fact inconsistent with her prior statements to her daughters regarding the source of her injuries. Brief of Appellant at 16; 1RP 192, 249, 301.

---

<sup>10</sup> The danger of unfair prejudice in this case was lower than in many others, such as Gunderson, because here the ER 404(b) evidence consisted only of additional allegations by the victim, rather than convictions conclusively establishing that prior abuse had occurred. Cf. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d at 926.

Vela's second assertion is based on State v. Fisher, in which the supreme court held, in response to a challenge by the defendant, that the trial court did not err in ruling that the defendant's prior physical abuse of a child sexual abuse victim "was admissible conditioned upon the defense making an issue of [the victim's] delayed reporting." 165 Wn.2d 727, 746, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). Because Vela did not raise this argument in the trial court, this Court should not allow him to assert it for the first time on appeal.<sup>11</sup> CP 24-27; 1RP 101-10; Trueax v. Ernst Home Ctr., Inc., 124 Wn.2d 334, 339, 878 P.2d 1208 (1994) (objection in the trial court on different grounds than those argued on appeal is not sufficient to preserve the alleged error); Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d at 926 (erroneous admission of 404(b) evidence is non-constitutional error); RAP 2.5 (only manifest constitutional errors may be raised for first time on appeal).

Furthermore, Fisher did not hold, as Vela would have this Court do, that prior bad acts are never admissible to explain delayed reporting until after the defense makes an issue of the delay. 165 Wn.2d at 746. Because the State generally must

---

<sup>11</sup> Vela objected to admission for the purpose of explaining delay in reporting only on the basis that Lopez-Nunez did not delay reporting the May 5<sup>th</sup> incident. CP 26.

preemptively elicit testimony disclosing the delay on direct examination to avoid the appearance of trying to hide unhelpful facts, such a rule would allow defense to lie in wait and make an issue of the delay only in closing argument, when it is too late for the State to present evidence of the prior abuse to explain the delay.

Furthermore, when a defendant's theory of the case is that the victim fabricated the allegations, his failure to explicitly make an issue of the delayed reporting does not remove the risk that the jurors will inaccurately interpret the delay as supporting the defendant's theory if they are unaware of the prior abuse. For that reason, when evidence of prior abuse is necessary to explain otherwise inexplicable delays in reporting or inconsistent statements, its probative value outweighs the danger of unfair prejudice from the outset. Cf. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d at 925.

Consistent with that reasoning, existing caselaw strongly suggests that there is no requirement that evidence of prior abuse be excluded until after the defendant makes an issue of the otherwise inexplicable inconsistency or delay. Id. (setting out rule without any suggestion that prior abuse is admissible only after defense explicitly challenges the victim's credibility); Magers, 164

Wn.2d at 180, 184-86 (upholding admission of prior bad acts to explain recantation without specifying whether they were introduced on direct or re-direct examination of victim); Baker, 162 Wn. App at 475 (upholding admission of prior bad acts to explain delay in reporting without any suggestion that timing of admission was significant).

Because López-Nunez's testimony regarding prior abuse by Vela was necessary to explain her otherwise inexplicable inconsistent statements and delay in reporting, and because the law does not require the court to delay admitting such evidence until the defendant has explicitly focused on the inconsistent statements and delay, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in admitting the testimony in the State's case-in-chief under ER 404(b).

c. Any Error In Identifying An Improper Basis For Admission Was Harmless.

The admission of ER 404(b) evidence for an improper purpose is harmless if the evidence was also admitted for a proper purpose. See State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 264-65, 893 P.2d 615 (1995) (trial court's decision to admit prior misconduct under ER 404(b) will be upheld if one of the bases is justified). Thus,

even if this Court were to hold that one of the purposes for admission described above was improper, any error in admitting the evidence of prior abuse for that purpose would be harmless in light of the other, proper basis for admission.

- d. Expert Testimony On The Dynamics Of Domestic Violence Relationships Is Not A Prerequisite To The Proper Admission Of ER 404(b) Evidence For The Purposes Identified Above.

Where evidence of prior domestic violence is admissible to prove the victim's reasonable fear as an element of the charge or explain otherwise inexplicable inconsistencies or delays by the victim, Washington courts have never imposed a requirement that such evidence be accompanied by expert testimony on the dynamics of domestic violence relationships. See Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d at 925 (discussing requirements for admission of prior domestic violence for purposes of evaluating victim's credibility, with no suggestion that expert testimony is needed); Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 182-86. The three dissenting justices in Magers advocated for such a requirement, but a majority of the court implicitly rejected that proposition by upholding the admission of evidence of prior domestic violence, without accompanying expert testimony, to explain the victim's inconsistent statements. Magers,

164 Wn.2d at 185-86, 195 (Madsen, J., concurring), 197-98 (C. Johnson, J., dissenting).

Significantly, Vela conceded before the trial court that no case requires the exclusion of otherwise admissible evidence of prior domestic violence for lack of accompanying expert testimony. 1RP 105. He should not now be permitted to argue that the trial court was required to exclude the ER 404(b) evidence for lack of expert testimony. See In re Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995) (appellate courts will not review a party's assertion of an error to which the party "materially contributed" at trial).

Furthermore, in this case the prior bad acts were admissible to prove the elements of one of the assault charges as discussed in section C.1.a. above, and there is nothing about the logical connection between prior violence by the defendant and the victim's reasonable fear of future violence that is specific to domestic violence relationships or requires expert testimony to explain. See, e.g., Ragin, 94 Wn. App. at 411-12 (upholding admission of defendant's prior bad acts to prove reasonableness of victim's fear in non-DV felony harassment case in which there was

no accompanying expert testimony) (discussed with approval in Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 183).

Vela's argument largely ignores that basis for the admission of the prior bad acts, and focuses instead on his contention that domestic violence is "beyond the common knowledge of the average lay person," and that therefore expert testimony to explain the dynamics of domestic violence is necessary in order for the relevance of prior domestic violence in assessing a victim's credibility to be clear to the jury. Brief of Appellant at 25-28. Vela's reliance on a dissenting opinion and cases discussing the average juror's knowledge of domestic violence issues in the 1980s is misplaced.

Although there was a time when "[t]he general public [was] unaware of the extent and seriousness of the problem of domestic violence," State v. Ciskie, 110 Wn.2d 263, 272-73, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988), today domestic violence is a national topic of conversation and prominent cases of domestic violence by public figures become the topic of discussion and analysis in both the news and entertainment media. See, e.g., PBS NewsHour, "NFL Domestic Violence Case Sparks Conversation on the Silence That Surrounds Abuse" (PBS television broadcast September 9, 2014), available at

<http://www.pbs.org/newshour/bb/nfl-domestic-violence-case-sparks-conversation-silence-surrounds-abuse>. It cannot reasonably be said that without expert testimony, the average juror today is unable to understand that prior violence by a defendant might cause a domestic violence victim to delay reporting or make inconsistent statements.

Because Vela's request to establish, for the first time, a requirement that all ER 404(b) evidence in a domestic violence case be accompanied by expert testimony is without support in logic or existing caselaw, this Court should reject it and affirm his convictions.

2. VELA HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO REQUEST A LIMITING INSTRUCTION.

Vela contends that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective in failing to request a limiting instruction regarding the evidence of prior bad acts admitted under ER 404(b). This claim should be rejected, as Vela has failed to establish that his counsel's choice to not request a limiting instruction both constituted deficient performance and prejudiced him.

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